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The Marion Hotel is composed of a seven-story rectangular central tower with 
flanking two-story wings. The entire structure, constructed of reinforced concrete, 
steel, and clay tile, is covered with white stucco. The tower has four bays along 
the east (main) facade, ten bays along the north and south elevations, although the 
north side is interrupted by an external fire escape system which extends down the 
entire fourth bay. Window spacing is regular on all elevations from the second 
through the seventh floors; all windows are double hung sash of eight lights over 
one light. Each facade of the tower is topped by a central curvilinear parapet 
interrupted by flanking red clay tile pent roofs. Each pent roof rests on a corbelled 
cornice with modillions. Bas-relief ornamentation is centered under each of the 
curvilinear gables. Each of the seventh story windows has a broken-pediment. The 
seventh story windows rest on a continuous belt course. The windows of the main 
block on the east facade are capped with a cast ornamented architecture. The 
outermost windows on the second floor and the inner pair of windows on the 
seventh floor have wrought iron balconets.

The first floor main entrance bay is surrounded by a bas-relief architrave. 
The entrance is lined in greenish-black, white veined marble. The name of the 
hotel is inscribed in a marble panel over the canopy. A rounded metal canopy 
projects from the entrance.

The flanking two-bay, two-story wings are detailed with double segmental 
arched windows (fanlighted) on the second floor. The two openings in the 
north wing originally had only wrought iron railings. The wood casement 
windows in the south wing are original

The ground, floor of the entire .east (main) facade originally had three 
large rectangular bays flanking each side of the entrance bay. Each bay had 
storefront glazing with a recessed door. Striped canvas awnings projected 
over the sidewalk. These six bays were filled with brick and tile creating 
a large space on each side of the main entrance. Above each bay, narrow 
panels of poly"chromatic ceramic tile delineate the second floor level* 
Stores still function in the flanking bays of the hotel on the ground floor. 
The recessed entrance is lined with greenish-black, white veined marble. 
The entrance doors are set into a wall o€ small rectangular panes of glass. 
This wall is divided into a tri-partite arrangement topped with glass transoms. 
Inside these doors is a vestibule lined with a ceramic tile wainscot, now 
painted brown. Four steps with colored ceramic tile risers and brass handrails 
lead up to the lobby. Entrances to shops formerly located on either side of 
this vestibule are also topped with the panels of colored ceramic tile.

(See Continuation Sheet)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
Serving as a dominant visual landmark to the City of Ocala, Florida, the 

Marion Hotel is significant as one of the last remaining examples of the popular 
1920s Mediterranean Revival architectural style in Marion County. It also 
stands as a symbol and expression of the community spirit, unity, and prosperity 
which existed in Marion County during the decade following World War I.

The building is composed of a rectangular central tower rising seven stories 
with flanking two-story wings. Each of the tower facades is topped by a cur­ 
vilinear parapet interrupted by flanking red tiled pent roofs. The simply- 
ornamented, stucco-covered building has features such as inlaid polychromatic 

9 ceramic tiles, wrought iron balconets, stained glass, and segmetally arched win­ 
dows with fanlights. The main entrance is delineated by an architrave with low 
relief detailing.

The Marion Hotel was built in 1926-27. Designed by the architectural firm 
of Peebles and Ferguson (Norfolk, Virginia), the hotel was constructed to 
satisfy the growing demands of business and tourism in Marion County. The 
reorganization of the Marion County Board of Trade into the Marion County 
Chamber of Commerce in 1919, provided the impetus for economic growth in the 
county. With fresh initiative, the Chamber of Commerce began programs to 
increase agriculture, dairy, and livestock production and to revive the area's 
citrus industry. Instrumental to the county's growth was the expansion and 
improvement of a highway system providing greater accessibility to markets. 
The construction of this highway system of over 400 miles of paved county roads 
provided the catalyst for the economic prosperity of the county which contrib­ 
uted to an increase in business and tourism. The Chamber of Commerce encour­ 
aged such growth by advertising nationally with slogans proclaiming the county 
"The Kingdom of the Sun."

Indicative of this increased economic activity was the appearance in 1925 
of a Hollywood movie company in nearby Silver Springs. The company filmed 
several pictures at Silver Springs, including the Players-Lasky Corporation 
Film Studio's motion picture "Old Home Week" starring the famous silent movie 
actor, Thomas Meighan.^

The enthusiasm of Meighan and other members of the motion picture community 
spurred local interest for building a hotel in Ocala. Newspaper accounts 
in 1925, reported that a group of 31 civic and business leaders, lead by former 
Ocala Mayor Dr. James E. Chase, and Secretary of the Chamber of Commerce 
Horace L. Smith, determined that Ocala needed a first class hotel to meet the 
demands of tourists and traveling salesmen. •> However, it is widely held

(See Continuation Sheet)
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The lobby is a T-shaped space and is divided by shallow segmental arches 
resting on pairs of small dark brackets. The ceilings of the lobby and its 
vestibule are spanned by dark narrow beams decorated with rows of small, richly 
colored figures. Large round amber glass chandeliers are hung in the 
vestibule and lobby. The seating area of the lobby focuses on the five narrow 
stained-glass casement windows which look out onto Washington Street. Wrought 
iron grilles are mounted on the side walls in various locations throughout the 
lobby. The flooring is terazzo in a large scale checkerboard pattern.

The original registration desk was located on axis with the main entrance, 
with the two elevators (one passenger and one freight) and a stair to the upper 
floors located to one side. Foliated wrought iron grilles are set into narrow 
panels in the wall above the stair and elevator doors, and in other locations 
throughout the lobby, fills the southwest corner of the ground floor. Kitchens, 
service rooms, and a small office fill the remainder of this floor. Hotel 
guest rooms fill the second through seventh floors, arranged around a central 
double loaded corridor. Additional meeting rooms were located on the second 
floor. An elevator penthouse is located on the roof, and metal exterior 
fire escapes are located on the west and north sides of the tower.
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Builder - Day and Zimmerman, Inc.
Architect - Peebles and Ferguson (Norfolk, Virginia)
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that Meighan and the movie community convinced the leaders of the Ocala commun­ 
ity that all the city needed was a first class hotel to become a "Hollywood of 
the East."6

Hockenberry Systems, Inc., a Harrisburg, Pennsylvania consulting firm was 
hired by the Chamber of Commerce to prepare a feasibility study on a hotel 
for the community. Hockenberry recommended the construction of a 100 room 
fireproof hotel financed by the community.? Acting on those recommendations, 
the Hotel Committee of the Chamber of Commerce formed a Citizens Sales Organi­ 
zation. The organization consisted of 140 volunteer boosters to sell stock in 
the Community Hotel Corporation. Using the sales slogan "What Ocala Builds — 
Builds Ocala,"° the sales organization sold stock in units of $300.00. This amount 
purchased three shares of stock.9 in less than six weeks the committee had 
raised $500,000 to finance the hotel ($50,000 for the land; $450,000 for the 
hotel).10 Most of the stock was purchased by local citizens.

Meighan, in addition to other real estate purchases in Ocala, purchased 
$5,000.00 worth of stock in the hotel and served as vice-president of Griner 
Hotels, Inc., managers of the hotel when it opened in 1927. Along with Meighan, 
Florida Governor John W. Martin also served on the Board of Directors of the 
Griner corporation.H

The firm of John Kevan Peebles and Finley Forbes Ferguson (II) were 
chosen to design the hotel. Their partnership had been formed in 1917, 
although each had practiced individually or in other firms for many years. 
Together, they designed hotels throughout the South, including the Hotel Lorraine 
and Hotel Monticello in Norfolk, and the Hotel Elliot in Surfolk, Virginia 
(a 100 room hotel similar in scale, massing, and layout to the Marion).13 
Other projects included the design of Fayerweather Hall at the University of 
Virginia in Charlottesville, the restoration of the Virginia State Capitol in 
Richmond, and numerous churches and banks in Virginia, Tennessee, and Florida. 
Finley Ferguson also served on the Advisory Committee for Architects during 
the initial restoration of Colonial Williamsburg, and John Peebles acted as 
Chairman of the Jamestown Exposition, Jamestown, Virginia, in 1907. On his 
death in August, 1934, the New York Times referred to Peebles as the "dean 
of Virginia architects."^

(See Continuation Sheet)
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The Marion Hotel was the only essay in the Mediterranean Revival style 
by Peebles and Ferguson. Peebles visited Ocala several times to present his 
design to the Board of Directors of the Community Hotel Corporation. The firm 
also supervised the construction of the hotel.

The Marion Hotel opened in March, 1927, with a gala attended by over 300 
of the County's business, professional, and social leaders. 15 The hotel has 
since served as the focal point for civic, business, and social meetings in 
the county. The building is presently used for apartments and as a transient 
hotel. Maintaining most of its original integrity, the hotel is the tallest 
building in Marion County, and continues to be prominent local landmark. The 
building was recently acquired by the Francis Marion Joint Venture, having 
been owned since 1965 by the Ocala Hotel Corporation.
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Ott, Eloise Rovinson and Louis Hiekman Chazal, Ocala, Country Kingdom of 
the Sun, A History of Marion County Florida (Ocala: Marion Publishers, Inc., 
1966; Second Edition, 1974), pp.; 186-190.

2 Ibid.,pp. 177-178

3Ibid., p. 176

4Ibid., p. 186

"Official Statement of the Executive Committee: A New Hotel for Ocala," 
Advertisement published in the Ocala Evening Star, May 13, 1925.

Telephone conversation with Edward Snowden d'Avi, (Architect) owner of 
the Marion Hotel, May 16, 1980.

"Hockenberry Hotel System," Ocala Evening Star, April 22, 1925 and 
"Official Statement of the Executive Committee," Ocala Evening Star, "Citizens 
Should Own the Stock," Ocala Evening Star,May 15, 1925.

8.. 

_>
9..

'Campaign for the New Hotel Enthusiastically Commences," Ocala Evening 
Star, May 12, 1925.

Community Executive Committee," Qcala Evening Star, May 15, 1925.

"Words of Appreciation to the Faithful Workers," Ocala Evening Star, 
June 19, 1925.

"An Asset to Ocala," Ocala Evening Star, September 17, 1925; "Throngs 
View New Hostelry," Ocala Evening Star, March 5, 1927; Ott, p. 186-188.

12
"Ocala Community Hotel Company's Architect," Ocala Evening Star, August

20, 1925. The commission was confirmed by John K. Peebles, Jr., AIA, of 
Richmond, Virginia, in a telephone interview, August 20, 1979. He worked 
for the firm during this period, and supervised construction of the building's 
foundations.

13
"Ocala Community Hotel Company's Architect," Ocala Evening Star. Telephone

conversation with Calder Loth, Architectural Historian, Virginia Historic 
Landmarks Commission, Richmond, Virginia, August 15, 1979. "Virginia Firm 
of Architects Planned Hotel," Ocala Evening Star, March 5, 1927. For Peebles, 
see Withey, Henry F. and Elsie Rathborn Withey, Biographical Dictionary of 
American Architects (Deceased). (Los Angeles: New Age Publishing Company,
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1956), p. 207.

Ibid.; "John Kevan Peebles, Dean of Virginia Architects" (obituary), 
New York Times, August 1, 1934, p. 17. For Ferguson, see Withey and Withey, 
Biographical Dictionary of American Architects (Deceased), P. 404.

15
"Throngs View New Hostelry," Ocala Evening Star, March 5, 1927.
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